1963

# Wilfred Wheatly v. Teamsters Local Union 222 et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Plaintiff brought this action against Defendants to recover damages for their negligence in failing to represent him properly in a grievance procedure hearing of the Plaintiff's discharge by his employer.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury and during the presentation of Plaintiff's case the trial court dismissed the complaint of Plaintiff with prejudice, no cause of action.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the judgment of the trial court, a finding that his complaint states a cause of action and a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1949 Plaintiff joined the Teamsters Union Local No. 222 by paying an initiation fee of \$25.00. (T-9) During the time Plaintiff was an active member of the

members he paid dues in the approximate sum of \$800.00.  
(T-9) Plaintiff went to work for the Union Pacific Motor Freight Company in 1953 and for six and one half years had no trouble on the job and was a good employee. (T 9, 10).

On May 27, 1960 Plaintiff was discharged by the Union Pacific Motor Freight Company (T 9, 13), and contacted Defendant Packrell to discuss his discharge (T-13). After several conversations with Defendant Packrell and a meeting with Mr. Holeapple of the Union Pacific Motor Freight Company Plaintiff was offered reinstatement with three weeks less of pay and he refused to accept this offer. (T 14-18, 19, 20) By this time steps 1 and 2 of the grievance procedure had been exhausted. (P-2)

Plaintiff wanted to continue with the additional steps in the grievance procedure (P-2) and was informed by Defendant Packrell and Mr. latter, Secretary and Treasure of Local No. 222, that his grievance would be further processed. This occurred on or about July 13, 1960. Step 3 of the grievance procedure was held and Plaintiff was represented by Defendant Packrell. After

a brief informal hearing the employer refused to re-instate Plaintiff at all. (T 24).

The case was then scheduled for a formal hearing before the Joint Area Committee as provided by step 4 of the grievance procedure. (P-2, T 24, 25) On several occasions during the processing of the grievance Plaintiff had asked Defendant Packrell to produce at either step 3 or 4 the employment records of other employees at Union Pacific Motor Freight to show that he had been discriminated against by the employer. (T 21, 24, 26, 27, 28, 30, 31) Under the rules of procedure of the Joint Area Committee these records could have been produced at step.4.

On or about September 20, 1960 the formal hearing was held with the Plaintiff being represented by Defendant Packrell. (T-25) Defendant Packrell did not produce the records requested by Plaintiff to support the defense that he had been discriminated against and thus discharged without just cause. (T-30) At the conclusion of the hearing Plaintiff's discharge was upheld by the Joint Area Committee. (T-30) Step 5 is provided

for under the collective bargaining agreement but Plaintiff could not have availed himself of this additional step as there was agreement of the Joint Area Committee at step 4. (P-2)

Plaintiff thereupon commenced action against Defendant Packrell and Defendant Teamsters Local No. 282 in the District Court of Salt Lake County for their negligence in processing his grievance. (P-1, 2) The case was tried to a jury on March 10, 1963 and before Plaintiff completed presenting his case the trial court dismissed the complaint of Plaintiff with prejudice, no cause of action. (P-152)

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT STATES A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DISMISSING SAID COMPLAINT.

The liability of Defendants to Plaintiff are predicated on simple rule of the duty of the agent to his principal. Over the past several years many cases have arisen wherein a union member sued his union for negligence either in processing or failure to process a grievance under a collective bargaining agreement. The law has become fairly well settled in these situations and the following cases reflect the main current of judicial opinion.

The case of Marchitto vs Central Ry. Co. of New Jersey, 88 A2d 851 (1952) states the duty of the union representative to the employee during the processing of a grievance.

"Did the complaint state a cause of action against these defendants? It is universally recognized that an agent stands in a fiduciary relationship to his principal and is under a duty to be careful, skilful, diligent and loyal in the performance of his principal's business and that for a failure so to act he subjects himself to liability." Since the complaint

here charged these defendants with negligence, carelessness, fraud and breach of trust and made appropriate allegations of fact in support thereof, it necessarily follows that a good cause of action was pleaded, if these defendants were in fact and in law his agents."

In the case of Fletcher vs. Colorado & Wyoming Railway Co., 347 P2d 156 (1960) the Plaintiff brought an action against his union for its failure to present his claim for lost wages in a hearing before the National Railway Adjustment Board. The trial court dismissed the complaint of Plaintiff and an appeal to the Colorado Supreme Court held as follows at 347 P2d 160:

"In sustaining these actions the trial court was in error. The complaint, though containing a minimum of facts and an abundance of legal conclusions, does state that the defendants, because of plaintiff's membership and payment of dues in the union, owed him a duty to present his claim, both for reinstatement and for lost wages; that they tardily undertook to perform this duty, but presented only his claim for reinstatement, and through fraud, conspiracy, lack of due diligence, good faith and honesty failed to present his claim for pay for lost time to his damage. The facts so pleaded state a claim upon which, if proved, the plaintiff would be entitled to recover, hence the complaint is not subject to a motion to dismiss."

In Fray vs. Amalgamated Meat Cutters, Etc., 101 P2d 782 (1940) the Plaintiff brought an action against his union for negligently failing to represent him in a grievance against his employer. The trial court dismissed the complaint of Plaintiff and on appeal the

Supreme Court of Wisconsin held as follows at 101 N. W.

2d 787.

"We held only upon this appeal that the Brown case doctrine does not exclude all possibility of an action by an injured member of a union against the union, virtually as an entity, arising out of the negligence of union officers or agents in the representation of the injured member in a grievance against his employer."

The case of Zote vs. Lancaster Optical Corp., 180 N.Y.S. 2d 348 (1958 ) involved the union's refusal to allow certain employees to appear at an arbitration proceeding by their own counsel. The award made in the arbitration proceeding was vacated and the court stated as follows at 180 N.Y.S. 2d 382:

"But while the individual employee may have no direct rights under a collective agreement, and the union has control over grievance procedures, there must be implied a duty of fair representation. Where collusion or unfair representation is shown, courts should permit the individual employee to take independent action....Whether petitioners be viewed in the nature of third party beneficiaries of a contract or in the position of beneficiaries of a trust, in which the union as a trustee owes them a fiduciary obligation of fair representation (the label is not important), they had cognizable standing to seek a vacatur of the award."

One of the leading scholars in the field of labor law, Professor Archibald Cox, had the following comment in the article Rights Under a Labor Agreement, 69 Harvard Law Review, 601, 638 (1956).

"The relationship between law and industrial relations will be improved, and collective bargaining will work better, in my opinion, without any sacrifice of the interests of individual employees, if contracts which contemplate active administration through a grievance and arbitration procedure controlled by the union are held to vest the power to settle grievances in the collective bargaining representative, subject to its fiduciary duty to fair representation."

In view of the fact that Plaintiff's complaint was dismissed in the instant case all well pleaded facts must be taken as being true. Portions of Plaintiff's complaint read as follows:

"On or about the 20th day of September, 1960, Plaintiff had a hearing before the Joint Area Committee as provided for in the Collective Bargaining Agreement... Defendant Packrell made the allegation that the Plaintiff's discharge was without just cause and discriminatory but did not make any effort to obtain or introduce any evidence to support his allegations when, in fact, evidence was readily available in the form of witnesses and the records of other employees of the Union Pacific Motor Freight Company..."

"If Defendant Packrell had obtained the evidence readily available and introduced it in support of the allegations he made, then the outcome would have been to order Plaintiff reinstated without loss of pay. Defendant Packrell's failure to obtain and introduce evidence in support of Plaintiff's case constitutes negligence and is imputed to Defendant Teamsters Local No. 222."

Evidence was introduced during the course of the trial to support these allegations. (121, 25, 28, 30, 31)

The question of Defendant Packrell's negligence in

representing Plaintiff at step 4 of the grievance procedure was clearly one for the jury.

Even though Plaintiff was offered reinstatement with three weeks less of pay he was not obligated to accept this offer and elected to continue with the grievance procedure. After he refused this offer it was discretionary with the union whether or not to process his grievance further. In Fray vs. Amalgamated Meat Cutters, Etc., 101 N.E. 2d at page 787 the court stated as follows:

"The union has great discretion in processing the claims of its members, and only in extreme cases of abuse of discretion will courts interfere with the unions decision not to present an employee's grievance."

When the Defendants undertook to represent Plaintiff at steps 3 and 4 they waived any right to rely on the offer of reinstatement as a defense to this action.

## **CONCLUSION**

The trial court erred as a matter of law in dismissing Plaintiff's complaint with prejudice, no cause of action and this court should hold that it does state a cause of action against the Defendants and award Plaintiff a new trial.