1963

# Wilfred Wheatly v. Teamsters Local Union 222 et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

ADMITTED FACTS SHOW PLAINTIFF WAS DISCHARGED FOR GOOD CAUSE.

If it is assumed that the plaintiff was discharged by the company for good cause, any alleged damage for loss



of time or discrimination on the part of the company or carelessness on the part of the defendants in failing to persuade the company to reinstate plaintiff to his former status without penalty or loss of time, would become irrelevant and moot.

After the conclusion of plaintiff's testimony, the court dismissed the cause. The facts developed at that time seem neither complex nor prolix. Defendants' position was then that the plaintiff having quite freely admitted that he was discharged by the Union Pacific Motor Freight Company, his employer, for good cause, defeated his action. Plaintiff also admitted that the defendants succeeded in getting his job restored to him after a short lay-off; also, admitted that he refused to take the job back unless he got paid about \$375.00 for loss of time during which plaintiff was off duty while the defendants were engaged in persuading the company to hire him back on the job; also admitted that the Board of Arbitrators that heard the case, including plaintiff's testimony, had found that the company for good cause had discharged the plaintiff. In such situation, defendants' position was that plaintiff was obviously not entitled to \$375.00 or any other amount while waiting for the defendants to persuade the company to put plaintiff back on his job, because and by reason of the manifest facts that the company had good reasons for the discharge.

The precipitate of plaintiff's position is set forth in the following quote from his testimony:

“Q. Now, as a result of your being discharged, you hadn't worked for the company, performed no services whatsoever for a period of fifteen working days. Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. You had performed no services?

A. No services.

Q. So you had the option to come back to take your job, but you refused to because you wanted the company to pay you for those fifteen days you did not work?

A. Yes, that's right.

Q. Now, you could have gone back to work, and that is all the damage you would have sustained was to be out fifteen days' work. Is that right?

A. That's right.

Q. Now, why didn't you go back to work? Why did you ignore the company's order to come back to work after Fackrell got you back on the job?

A. Because there was discrimination there. I don't feel that I should have taken a greater penalty than somebody else just because he is the blood of Mr. Fackrell.

Q. Are you talking about Fackrell or Norm Fackrell?

A. That's right.

Q. Norm Fackrell was a helper, wasn't he?

A. Yes, After he lost his driver's license, they had to make him a helper.

Q. Wait a minute. Norm Fackrell was helper. You were a driver.

A. He was hired as a driver.

Q. Wait a minute. Norm Fackrell was working as a helper?

A. Yes.

Q. And you were working as a driver?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Your job is much — requires much more promptness and dispatch than helper's does, doesn't it?

A. That's right.

Q. And you had two more warning notices, active warning notices, than Fackrell, Norm Fackrell, didn't you?

A. I don't know just exactly how many warning notices Norm Fackrell got while he was down there. Very few, I imagine.

Q. Well, you were both fired at the same time?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And your chief reason that you didn't come back to work is because they didn't pay you for the fifteen days you didn't work, and you support that and justify your conduct there because Norm Fackrell—

A. It wasn't the pay. It was the principle of the thing.

Q. All right. It wasn't the pay. It was the principle. Now, Norm Fackrell did go back to work, didn't he?

A. Yes, but he wasn't going to.

Q. But he did go, didn't he?

A. He had to or else go to jail.

Q. Norm Fackrell got a wire to come back to work, didn't he?

A. Whether he got a wire or what the communication was I do not know.

Q. Well, you knew of your own knowledge that he did go back to work after you were both fired?

A. Yes, and I know of my own knowledge he was two hours late the first day he went back to work.

Q. Well, Mr. Wheatley, I don't want to prolong this examination unduly. If you will just answer the questions that I ask you, it would save me from cutting in with an objection, please. The fact of the matter is you knew Fackrell went back to work, and he had been docked ten working days, the time he wasn't working. You know that of your own knowledge?

A. I know he went back to work.

Q. Yes, and you know you didn't go back to work?

A. Yes.

Q. And you didn't go back to work because Norm went back to work. Is that right?

A. And he received a vacation pay for going back to work.

Q. He what?

A. He received pay for the two weeks he was off.

He didn't get penalized in effect at all. They called it his vacation and paid him.

Q. You mean—

A. He suffered no penalty. He got two weeks off as a guise and then received pay as a vacation, which was a rule of his. Wherever he went, to jail or wherever it was, he took a vacation or leave of absence.

Q. Well, I don't know about that. The contract, of course, provides for vacation, as you well know, and you got paid for all your vacation that you took off too, didn't you?

A. I have asked to work my vacations, but the company wouldn't allow me to work my vacation.

Q. Well, now, wait a minute. You had vacations while you were on that job?

A. Yes, I did, sir.

Q. And you got paid for those vacations?

A. Yes, I did." (T 39-42)

At this time, the defendants were not contending plaintiff's complaint did not state a cause of action as plaintiff implies in his brief or that plaintiff was suing his own agent and mayhap not in an tenable position. The defendants took the position that plaintiff's discharge being admittedly for good cause; plaintiff was therefore barred from the recovery of damages for loss of time, imposition of penalty or otherwise.

Shortly ater the conclusion of plaintiff's testimony, the court ruled as follows:

“THE COURT: no, I don’t have a position on it. I think the contract is clear here that they may— company may discharge or suspend an employee for just cause, but it doesn’t mean they have to, and if they don’t want to on a fellow that’s not quite so litigious and who gets in so many arguments with them, they well might forgive him, and somebody else who would be more litigious and more intractable might cause them not to give him the benefits of this “may” provision.

In fact, I am ready to rule. There isn’t any question but what this fellow was fired for just cause. The fact that Norm — and Norm was fired for just cause too, but they put him back. They put this fellow back, but he wouldn’t take it. His fuss was over \$375, and there is a provision in this contract as to what to do about getting the money. He had his job. This fellow was fired. He ought to have taken his job back and engaged in the fuss over getting his money, and there isn’t any need of letting him run a seven or eight thousand dollar bill up on us when all he had was \$375 involved in the first place.

The defendants may have judgment for no cause of action, and the case is dismissed, and the jury is discharged, and I thank you for your services.

We will recess until ten o’clock tomorrow morning.” (T 68)

It is familiar doctrine that employers have a right to make rules controlling conduct of its employees and to discharge or otherwise discipline employees who violate those rules. For example, the employer can make no smoking rules, rules requiring reports on absences and

accidents and rules prohibiting collections without permission and so on. The employer can even make rules restricting solicitation of union membership on company property. The National Labor Relations Act does not interfere in any way with an employer's usual operation of his business, neither may a labor union. All the Taft-Hartley Act does is to forbid the employer from thwarting his employees' right to engage in or refrain from engaging in union activities. It does not prevent him from discharging or disciplining his workers for cause or for no cause. The Act merely prevents such action if the reason for the discharge is anti-union or pro-union, and a fortiori, the Act emphatically prohibits the National Labor Relations Board from reinstating or awarding back pay to employees who were fired for cause; see Sec. 10(c).

This is not a case where the company breached its collective bargaining contract or violated some state law or fired plaintiff because of his union activities and the defendants at plaintiff's timely request neglected to process plaintiff's grievance pursuant to the bargaining contract, just the opposite appears here. In this area, the authorities are legion, but we find no case authorities and we think none can be found supporting the conceptual pattern of plaintiff, that notwithstanding he was fired because of three or four successive violations of company rules and three or four company warning notices and thereafter the union succeeded in securing his job back which he deliberately refused to accept, then

the plaintiff in such situation may recover damages because he lost his job and was re-hired shortly thereafter at the instance of defendant Fackrell.

Plaintiff entirely overlooks the fundamental and basic element here involved that the company had the implicit right to fire plaintiff for cause or for no cause and was under absolutely no obligation to take plaintiff back (which it did at the instance of defendant) under any circumstances appearing in this record. Hence, how plaintiff expected the company to present him a premium instead of a penalty for his own admitted wrong doing, the court below could not understand why defendants were not entitled to a judgment of dismissal and neither do defendants.

## APPELLANT'S CASE AUTHORITIES

Plaintiff cites the case of *Marchitto v. Central Railroad Company of New Jersey*, 88 A2d 851 (1925). This was an action on six counts against the union and the chairman of the Grievance Committee. Among such counts was lost seniority, lost wages and a count stating that it was the duty of the Grievance Committee Chairman to prosecute the claims of union members against the railroad company which said chairman failed to prosecute.

The holding of the court was that the action against the union be dismissed but that the complaint stated a



cause of action against the grievance chairman. Such holding is of no comfort to the instant plaintiff for the reason that plaintiff's complaint is not an issue. The defendant has assumed for the purpose of this appeal that plaintiff's complaint does state a cause of action. Nevertheless, the plaintiff admits he was discharged for good cause, therefore the defendants here take the position that no cause of action against the defendants could exist.

The plaintiff cites the case of *Fetcher v. Colorado & Wyoming Railway Company*, 347 P2d 156 (1959). The court below in this matter dismissed the complaint and the court above reversed. The complaint stated that the plaintiff was discharged without cause and that the Brotherhood, Lodge and the individual defendants were guilty of fraud, breach of duty and collusion with the railroad company to bring about plaintiff's discharge without any cause.

In the instant case the pleadings are not an issue.

Plaintiff: cites the case of *Fray v. Amalgamated Meat Cutters, et al*, 101 NW2d 782 (1960). The complaint in this case alleged that plaintiff was unlawfully discharged. The appellant court held that the plaintiff should have an opportunity to amend his complaint, hence, reversed the court below which had dismissed the complaint on the facts pleaded.

The issues in the three cited cases above mentioned arose on the pleadings -- defendant for the purposes of

the instant appeal are not attacking plaintiff's complaint; hence, the above cited cases are inapplicable.

The case of *Soto v. Lenscraft Optical Corporation*, 180 N.Y.S. 2d 388 (1958) is cited. This case arose out of processing an arbitration, where fraud, collusion and misrepresentation were pleaded respecting such arbitration proceeding; furthermore, the employees were denied their right to individual counsel. Two labor unions, the employer and a group of employees were involved. The arbitration award was predicated principally on the ground that the employees were denied the right to counsel of their own choosing.

Plaintiff in the case at bar never did seek an appeal or rehearing of the arbitration award and never sought counsel other than Fackrell until after the Board of Arbitration has sustained the employer in a decision holding that the discharge of plaintiff by the employer was valid, legal and justified. There was no fraud or collusion between the company and the defendants alleged in Wheatley's complaint; but assuming that such were alleged, such allegations in Wheatley's complaint were not the issue. It is the absolute failure of proof to support the allegations of complaint which is the issue here; to the contrary the proof nullified the allegations of plaintiff's complaint and none other than Wheatley supplied such proof personally.

Wherefore to the single point raised by plaintiff, to wit: "that plaintiff's complaint states a cause of action

against defendants and the trial court erred as a matter of law in dismissing said complaint.”

The defendants respond that the pleadings are not an issue in this case for the reason that the defendants do not presently deny the complaint states a cause of action. But an indispensable requisite to the plaintiff's case is that the proof must disclose an invalid discharge of plaintiff by the company. Thus the issue of vital relative consequence is that the plaintiff's own proof and repeated admissions disclose that plaintiff was discharged for cause and good cause which admissions supply abundant proof that the company was justified in the exercise of its managerial right to discharge plaintiff and as a result of such valid exercise of management prerogative no damage to plaintiff could possibly lie against his employer which is not here sued or the defendants who engaged in an extra gratuity bonus endeavor in negotiating with the company successfully to the end that plaintiff was later rehired for a similar employment to that from which plaintiff was discharged.

Defendants therefore submit that the court below was fully justified in dismissing plaintiff's cause of action and its decision should be sustained.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

ELIAS HANSEN

CLARENCE M. BECK

*Attorneys for Defendants  
and Respondents*